RECEIVED 03-31-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1565-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

٧.

RYAN HUGH MULHERN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN PIERCE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH BOLES, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Schertz Law Office By Dennis Schertz State Bar No. 1024409

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

P.O. Box 133 Hudson WI 54016 (715) 377-0295 denschertz@mac.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should take a "fresh look" (State's brief, p.15) at its reasoning in past cases regarding the applicability of the rape shield statute to evidence of a complainant's lack of sexual conduct when the State has had numerous opportunities to do so over the past three decades, but failed to do so.

The court of appeals did not address this question.

This Court should say "No."

2. The State was allowed to introduce evidence at trial in violation of this Court's well-established holding that evidence of a claimant's lack of sexual conduct is barred by the rape shield statute and conceded, in the court of appeals, that its admission was an erroneous exercise of the trial court's discretion, but argued that its admission was harmless. Was the admission of this evidence harmless?

The court of appeals found that the admission was not harmless and remanded the case for a new trial.

This Court should affirm the decision of the court of appeals.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Mulhern agrees with the State that publication and oral argument are warranted.

INTRODUCTION

This case demonstrates that the State is upset that its long-standing "workaround" (State's brief, pp.14-15) of admitting improper rape shield evidence at trial - then having the court of appeals find that the error was harmless - did not work in its favor as it has for nearly four decades. It has had the opportunity to challenge this Court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2) in State v. Gavigan, 111 Wis. 2d 150, 330 N.W.2d 571 (1983), following the subsequent amendments to the statute, but has not done so until now, when it is no longer getting the benefit of this "workaround." The State's displeasure at this turn of events is no reason for this Court to take another look at its long-standing decision, but even if it does, the State fails to demonstrate any ambiguity in the plain language of the statute that would require a withdrawal of this Court's original interpretation of the statute. The State says that the rape shield law serves as a shield to protect victims and accuses Mulhern of attempting to use it as a sword. The reality is that he is just asking that it be used according to its plain meaning, which can shield both the accuser and the accused.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Ryan Mulhern, was charged in a complaint with second degree sexual assault, strangulation and suffocation, and misdemeanor bail jumping, all as a result of an incident that occurred in the early morning hours of November 23, 2016. R.1. He appeared for a trial on those counts on March 7, 2018.

During the complainant, Alyssa's, direct testimony, she told the jury that she had showered after the alleged sexual assault (R.85:149) and under cross-examination she testified that she had not used soap when she showered and that she had not given the clothes she had been wearing during the assault to the police (for analysis, presumably) because they did not ask for them. R.85:154, 176.

On the second day of trial, when the DNA analyst from the crime lab testified, he told the jury that the only DNA from Mulhern that was found on Alyssa was on her neck. R.86:189. On cross-examination, he testified that no semen was found in her vagina, despite her previous testimony that Mulhern had engaged in intercourse with her, without a condom, for around five minutes. R.86:196. After two more witnesses testified, the State asked to re-call Alyssa to the stand, to which defense counsel objected initially because he believed she could only be re-called in rebuttal. R.86:261-62.

After the court determined that the State could recall her, defense counsel argued that it was unfair to do

so without explaining what questions were to be asked, which the prosecutor was happy to do, as he had just two, the second of which was "... did you have sexual intercourse or sexual contact with anyone for one week prior to November 22nd, 2016?" R.86:264. Defense counsel argued that the prosecutor could not ask the second question "... under the rape shield law. He hasn't filed a motion, he hasn't brought that up. I can't ask for those questions, he can't, either, number one." Id.

After hearing from the prosecutor, the court stated that the problem it had with the second question was "... under 972.11, any conduct or behavior relating to sexual activities of complaining witness, including but not limited to prior experience of sexual intercourse or sexual contact, use of contraceptives, living arrangement and lifestyle is not admissible, and so I think that applies to both sides. I don't see - I don't see how we can do that." Pet.Ap., 113-15; R.86:264-66. The prosecutor then argued that his understanding of the rape shield law was that it dealt with "... prior sexual acts. I mean, this is abstinence, it's the lack of sexual history. I mean, it's not - "Pet.Ap., 116; R.86:267. Defense counsel argued that it was "... sexual history, whether it's lack or not, after which the court stated:

Sexual conduct means - this is what's prohibited: any conduct or behavior relating to sexual activities of complaining witness, including but not limited to prior experience of sexual intercourse or sexual contact, use of contraceptives, living arrangement and lifestyle, etc. And so I - I think [the prosecutor]'s correct on that, that it is conduct not lack of conduct, so I'm

going to permit that, that testimony, as well.

Id.

Case 2019AP001565

Following a discussion about the testimony of another witness, defense counsel asked the court to clarify its decision and the court stated: "If she – she can testify – I mean, if she didn't have any – it's the lack of sexual activity. It's not sexual conduct, it's the lack of it, and I think that is permissible, and that's what my ruling is because it's not testimony that's within the definition of sexual conduct under 972.11, it's the lack of it, so – "R.86:268. When Alyssa returned to the stand a few minutes later, she testified that she had not had sexual intercourse or sexual contact with anyone during the week prior to the alleged sexual assault. R.86:275.

During closing arguments, the prosecutor referred to the DNA analyst's testimony that DNA clears the vagina in five days, then went on to say that Alyssa had testified that she had had no sex in the week before the alleged assault "So the sex assault was November 22nd, it's the same date as the evidence collection, and there was male DNA found in the vagina. Given this information, I submit to you one reasonable hypothesis, given this information, this timeline, is that the male DNA is the Defendant." R.86:364.

The State returned again to this testimony in its rebuttal argument, stating:

So again, I don't want to underestimate how important this timeline really is. This is really important and I want to make it understand-able

and perfectly clear. DNA clears the vagina in five days. [Alyssa] did not have sex with anyone seven days up to the sex assault. Seven days. So the only DNA in [Alyssa's] vagina is her own DNA, okay?

Then November 22nd, that's the date of the sex assault. That's the date she's saying Mr. Mulhern sexually assaulted her. The evidence, the swabs of her vagina, was taken that same day. There's male DNA found in her vagina, it's collected. I submit to you one reasonable hypothesis is that this male DNA is the Defendant's. This is important evidence that I want you to consider. I hope I'm clear on this point.

R.86:377-78.

After more than four hours of deliberation, the jury found Mr. Mulhern guilty of the sexual assault, but not guilty of strangulation and suffocation. R.86:384.

Mr. Mulhern appealed the judgment of conviction on the grounds that the trial court erred, as a matter of law, when it permitted the testimony of the alleged victim in violation of the rape shield law. The State acknowledged that under this Court's precedent, Alyssa's testimony violated the rape shield statute, but argued that the judgment should be affirmed because its admission was harmless. After the court of appeals reversed the convictions because it found that the error was not harmless, the State petitioned for review, which this Court granted.

ARGUMENT

I. Wisconsin's rape shield statute, given its plain meaning, bars evidence of a complainant's lack of sexual conduct.

Standard of Review

Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review. State v. Peters, 2003 WI 88, \$13, 263 Wis. 2d 475, 665 N.W.2d 171.

The State is attempting to convince this Court that the definition of sexual conduct as meaning "any conduct or behavior relating to sexual activities of the complaining witness ..." is somehow ambiguous, as a result of which there is a need to interpret these words to a meaning more beneficial to the State. Mr. Mulhern submits that this definition means just what it says, that "any conduct" clearly and unambiguously includes both engaging in sexual activity or not engaging in sexual activity. Had the legislature intended to limit it only to evidence of engaging in sexual activity, it could have done so by using different or additional words. It's failure to do so results in the ability (and necessity) to apply the plain meaning to this definition without resort to extrinsic sources of interpretation or further interpretation, as urged by the State.

A. This Court has previously addressed and interpreted the rape shield statute without the State ever contesting that interpretation until now.

The State attempts (State's brief, pp.12-15) to diminish this Court's past decisions involving the rape

shield statute in which it claims that this Court never fully interpreted the statute because of the State's repeated concession that the plain meaning of the statute meant that evidence of a claimant's lack of sexual conduct was barred by the statute, which is exactly what this Court held in State v Gavigan, 111 Wis.2d 150, 158-59, 330 N.W.2d 571 (1983). In the end, it argues that these past decisions are not "reasoned holdings carrying precedential value.", citing a case that held that a concession "for the sake of argument" that the supreme court adopts without "studied discussion" is not a "holding worthy of precedential value." State's brief, p.14.

The problem is that the State provides no facts to support its claim that its past concessions were merely for the sake of argument. With all due respect to the State, it did not have to concede that this Court's interpretation of the plain meaning of the statute was correct and could have challenged it (and engaged in a studied discussion) at that time or at the time of any other case in the nearly forty years that have passed since *Gavigan* was decided, most recently in *State v. Bell*, 2018 WI 28, 380 Wis. 2d 616, 909 N.W.2d 750.

In addition, the State's claim that its concession in these cases was for the sake of argument is particularly belied by its brief in *Gavigan*, which included the following:

The trial court ruled that the state could introduce evidence of the defendant's (sic) virginity at the time of the sexual assault. The trial court ruled that the evidence of virginity was relevant to prove the victim's

Filed 03-31-2021

physical condition and state of mind at the time of the offense. The trial court indicated it would limit the evidence by instructing the jury that the evidence was not offered to show anything about the victim's prior sexual conduct (16:11-12).

The state concedes that the victim's prior chastity was not relevant evidence and that the trial court committed error to the extent that it concluded that the prosecution could elicit testimony that the victim was a virgin prior to the sexual assault. Section 972.11(2)(b), Stats., provides:

[Statute cited in full]

In Milenkovic v. State, 86 Wis. 2d 272, 280-81, 72 N.W.2d 320 (Ct. App. 1978), this court stated that "chastity reputation of the victim is not a pertinent trait of character of a rape victim" (emphasis by court). In State v. Clark, 87 Wis. 2d 804, 817, 275 N.W.2d 715 (1979) the Wisconsin Supreme Court accepted the state's concession "that the trial court erred in admitting D.T.'s testimony that she did not have intercourse before the incident in question." The state agrees with the defendant that a statement that a woman is a virgin is necessarily a comment on the woman's prior sexual activity. Ordinarily, testimony that a woman was a virgin prior to the sexual assault therefore falls within the prohibition of sec. 972.11 (2)(b), Stats.

Ap.App. A106-07; State's brief in Gavigan', pp.3-5.

Perhaps the reason why the State did not contest the well-established holding in Gavigan was that there was no good reason to contest it, since this Court's holding was based upon a most basic principle of statutory

¹ Mr. Mulhern asks this Court to take judicial notice of the State's brief from Gavigan, which undersigned counsel obtained by emailing the Wisconsin State Law Library, whose staff scanned the State's and Mr. Gavigan's briefs and emailed PDFs of the same to counsel.

construction, that the plain meaning of words should be given their "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning."

State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271

Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Why it believes there is now a need to challenge that basic principle most likely lies in the loss of its "workaround" by which its improper admissions in violation of Gavigan's holding were almost always upheld in the court of appeals as harmless error.

See State's brief, pp.14-15. Regardless of the reasons, it has not presented any reason, in its brief, to believe that the rape shield statute is ambiguous and that, as a result, there is a need for further interpretation and resort to extrinsic sources of interpretation.

B. A complainant's lack of sexual conduct is rape shield evidence, given the plain language of the statute.

In Gavigan, this Court stated that "Sec. 972.11(2)(b), Stats., precludes the admission of 'any evidence' pertaining to a complainant's prior sexual conduct or reputation. Nothing in the statute limits its applicability to prior affirmative acts. Rather, the plain meaning of the words 'prior sexual conduct' [in section 972.11(2)(b)] includes the lack of sexual activity as well." 111 Wis.2d at 158-59. There is simply nothing that is incorrect in that passage. The plain meaning of the words "prior sexual conduct" does include the lack of sexual activity because the statute does not limit its applicability to prior

affirmative acts. It doesn't get much plainer than that. There is no ambiguity in this statute.

"Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. We generally give words and phrases their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning. Id." State v. Dinkins, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787. If this process of analyzing statutory language yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then the court ordinarily stops the inquiry and applies the plain meaning. Bruno v. Milwaukee County, 2003 WI 28, ¶¶ 8, 20, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656; State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 45, 51, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663, 681 N.W.2d 110. ("We have repeatedly emphasized that 'traditionally, resort to legislative history is not appropriate in the absence of a finding of ambiguity.' ... [T]he rule prevents the use of extrinsic sources of interpretation to vary or contradict the plain meaning of a statute...")(citing Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 50, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 235-236, 612 N.W.2d 659).

Mr. Mulhern respectfully submits that this Court correctly found, in Gavigan, that there was no ambiguity in this statute and that, given its plain meaning, there was no need to continue its inquiry into the meaning of the statute. As a result, there is no need to now go down the road of statutory

interpretation down which the State is urging this Court to proceed. For the sake of argument, however, Mr. Mulhern will do just that.

The State begins by asserting that the language of paragraph (2)(b) contemplates affirmative sexual conduct, rather than negative. (State's brief, pp.16-18). The State is free to interpret as many words as it likes to try to reach such a conclusion, but there is every reason to conclude that the words "conduct" and "behavior," in particular, can mean the lack of conduct or behavior, which is exactly what this Court did in Gavigan. While the State is also free to suggest that the word "activity" should somehow limit or modify the words "sexual conduct," Mr. Mulhern would submit that it does not, and cannot, change the plain meaning of those words, which are at the core of this definition, to exclude the lack of such conduct.

The State then begins its critique of this Court's holding in Gavigan, finding fault in its failure to go beyond the plain meaning of the words of the statute and its purported failure to look at every single word the way the State would have wished it to do. (State's brief, p.18). It is as if the State believes that this Court was not looking at all of the language of the statute when it made its holding in Gavigan, which is preposterous. It also seems to have forgotten that its

own brief in Gavigan provided a partial basis for this Court's plain meaning interpretation of the statute.

Moving on, the State then discusses the primary purposes of the statute (State's brief, pp.19-21), with which Mulhern cannot disagree, however he can disagree that this Court's interpretation of the statute led to an absurd result in this case. While the statute was clearly intended to protect a complainant, it was certainly not intended to deprive a defendant of his right to a fair trial in accordance with all of the other statutes relating to trials and their conduct. Few statutes are perfect in their implementation. As this court aptly noted a few years after its decision in Gavigan:

It is impossible to construct a general rule classifying evidence as inadmissible that will not on occasion result in the exclusion of relevant evidence, just as it is impossible to devise exceptions, however numerous, that will prevent relevant evidence from being excluded. By adopting the rape shield law, the legislature has balanced the advantages of a general classification of evidence for purposes of exclusion and the disadvantages that any such general rule creates. 1A Wigmore on Evidence, sec. 62, p. 1308, n. 29 (1983).

State v. Mitchell, 144 Wis.2d 596, 618-19, 424 N.W.2d 698 (1988).

Next, the State discusses numerous extrinsic sources about the purposes behind the rape shield law in this state and one other (State's brief, pp.21-24), but none of these extrinsic sources provide a basis to

Page 17 of 26

challenge this Court's plain meaning interpretation of the law.

Finally, the State notes that even if evidence of a complainant's lack of sexual conduct does not fall under the rape shield stature, it is still subject to statutes regarding relevancy and admissibility, including questions of prejudice. State's brief, pp.24-26. While the evidence may have been relevant, it was most certainly prejudicial to Mr. Mulhern, in that it almost certainly led the jury to conclude that it was his DNA that was found in Alyssa's womb, despite their being no scientific evidence of such a thing.

In the end, the State failed in its attempt to escape the consequences of the "workaround" from which it has benefited for almost 40 years. This Court's holding in Gavigan was well reasoned and correct, and should not be withdrawn. Mr. Mulhern is entitled to a new trial for this reason and because the admission of the rape shield evidence at his trial was not harmless.

II. The court of appeals correctly concluded that the trial court error was harmless.

Standard of Review

A trial court's admission of evidence in violation of the rape shield statute is subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Mitchell, 144 Wis.2d 596, 619-20, 424 N.W.2d 698 (1988).

Under the harmless-error analysis, the State, as the party benefitting from the trial court's error, "must show that 'it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." State v. Martin, 2012 WI 96, ¶45, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270 (citation omitted). Despite its best efforts, the State is unable to meet this very high burden, as the court of appeals correctly concluded.

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