RECEIVED
03-01-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1565-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RYAN HUGH MULHERN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN PIERCE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH D. BOLES, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

Indeed, had the State not been able to elicit Lisa's statement, the jury would have been left to wonder why no one asked Lisa that question or whether the DNA could have been someone else's. Despite that the jury was instructed not to speculate (R. 86:134), the absence of Lisa's statement would have invited the jury to do just that.

In sum, this Court should hold that evidence of a victim's lack of sexual activity is not rape shield evidence and thus is not barred under Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2). Rather, such evidence is admissible if it satisfies the admissibility rules under Wis. Stat. §§ 904.01 and 904.03. And because here, Lisa's statement is not rape shield evidence and is admissible, this Court should reverse the court of appeals and reinstate the judgment of conviction.

### II. The court of appeals wrongly concluded that the error was not harmless.

Even if this Court believes that the rape shield statute properly barred Lisa's statement that she did not have sex the week before the assault and the circuit court erroneously admitted it, a rational jury would have found Mulhern guilty even without her statement. Mulhern is not entitled to a new trial.

# A. The harmless-error test asks whether the jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.

An erroneous admission of rape-shield evidence is subject to harmless-error analysis. *Mitchell*, 144 Wis. 2d at 619–20. For an error to be harmless, the party benefitting

from the error must demonstrate that it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)). The standard is "essentially consistent" with the standard for prejudice in ineffective-assistance cases, except that under Strickland, the defendant bears the burden of proof. See id. ¶ 41 (citing State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 544–45, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985)).

In assessing whether an error requires reversal, this Court must consider the totality of the evidence presented at trial. State v. Hunt, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 29, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434. While "[h]armless error is not subject to a precise mathematical formula," Monahan, 383 Wis. 2d 100, ¶ 63, multiple non-exhaustive factors may assist the analysis, including: the prevalence and importance of the erroneously admitted evidence; the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted evidence; the nature of the defense; the nature of the State's case; and the strength of the State's case. Hunt, 360 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 27.

## B. Based on all the evidence and the relevant factors, a rational jury would have convicted Mulhern absent Lisa's statement.

Applying the above factors in addition to other considerations, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the admission of Lisa's statement was harmless.

1. The nature of the parties' cases and strength of the State's case demonstrate that the alleged error was harmless.

Starting with the factors considering the nature and strength of the parties' positions and the prosecution evidence, the State had a strong case—even without Lisa's statement about the week preceding the assault—that Mulhern could not credibly undercut. To prove second-degree sexual assault without consent, the State had to prove the following three elements: that Mulhern had sexual intercourse with Lisa; that Lisa did not consent to the intercourse; and that Mulhern used or threatened force or violence to have that intercourse. *See* Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a); Wis. JI–Crim 1200B (2010), 1208 (2016). <sup>10</sup>

Given Lisa's and Mulhern's diverging accounts of the events—Lisa's being that Mulhern forced sexual intercourse with her, Mulhern's being that no nonconsensual contact and no contact below Lisa's waist occurred—the only truly contested element at trial was the first, i.e., whether there was intercourse. In the end, the jury believed Lisa's account that, after she tolerated some hugging and a kiss, Mulhern physically forced sexual intercourse despite Lisa's objections and efforts to fend him off.

<sup>10</sup> These elements of the crime are narrowed based on an error in the jury instructions given at trial. To convict in a second-degree sexual assault prosecution, the jury can find that the relevant act was sexual contact or sexual intercourse. Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a); Wis. JI–Crim 1200A (2007), 1208 (2016). Here, the circuit court refused the State's request to instruct the jury on sexual contact. In support of its request, the State pointed to testimony from Lisa that she felt Mulhern's erect penis on her bottom and from Mulhern that he touched her breasts and bottom with his hands. (R. 86:115–16, 123–25, 127.) The circuit court denied the State's request because the Information charged intercourse and, in the court's view, the focus of trial had been intercourse, not contact. (R. 86:123–25, 128.)

The State disagrees with the court's decision and maintains that the jury should have been instructed on sexual contact as well as intercourse. That said, the State's harmless error argument is based on the instruction provided.

And to that end, the State's case was strong. Lisa offered compelling testimony, acknowledging that at first, she did not object to Mulhern's cuddling with her. (R. 85:133–34.) She also admitted that she kissed him on the promise that he would leave her room. (R. 85:134–35.) She described in detail how Mulhern's aggression progressed: his immobilizing her face and neck to kiss her forcibly; his disrobing and then forcibly removing her pants; his forcing her down on the bed; and his immobilizing her by pressing his forearm onto her neck, covering her mouth with his hand, impeding her breathing, and forcing himself between her legs. (R. 85:136– 46.) She articulated how her mental state progressed throughout the encounter from annoyance and anger to fear and terror. (See id.)

Lisa's version of events had support in the testimony of the sexual assault nurse examiner, who testified to the tears, abrasions, and tenderness that Lisa suffered in her vagina, on her labia, her thighs, and other parts of her body. The nurse testified that she was aware of Lisa's claims and the injuries were consistent with her stated history. (R. 85:208–09.) These were significant injuries that Lisa sustained mere hours after an encounter with Mulhern in which he swore he did not contact her other than above the waist (though he later admitted that he touched her backside). There was no evidence that Lisa could have sustained those injuries some other way in the roughly 12 hours between when Mulhern left her house and when she went to the hospital for a SANE exam. Certainly, Mulhern could not offer an alternate explanation.

Lisa's version of events also was corroborated because she reported the assault right away to multiple people. The jury heard testimony confirming as much from JH and Dohmeier, to whom Lisa reported the assault the same and the next day, respectively. (R. 86:10–12, 26–28.) Lisa called SART the morning of the assault and submitted to an exam that afternoon. (R. 85:155–56.) She also testified that she told her roommate that same morning and her mother a few days later. (R. 85:149–51.)

Finally, Lisa's version of events was compelling because she had no motive to falsely accuse Mulhern. Mulhern was a friend and she trusted him. She invited him over on a night when she needed to rest for an important exam; she did so after he asked multiple times and appeared to be having a mental health crisis. She had no reasonable motivation to accuse Mulhern of sexual assault and endure all that that entailed—a SANE exam, police interviews, a trial—if one didn't happen. There was no explanation why Lisa would have acknowledged some consensual contact with Mulhern before the assault if she was fabricating the allegations. Mulhern certainly couldn't come up with any theory why Lisa would make up the accusations or could have had such a dramatically different understanding of what had occurred.

In contrast, Mulhern's version of events was inherently less compelling and riddled with inconsistencies. He explained that he arrived at Lisa's house shortly after midnight on November 22, after asking if they could "kind of catch up," and denied that he was "having issues that he wanted to talk about." (R. 86:89–90.) Mulhern started to suggest that he went to Lisa's house because Lisa had either initiated the contact with him, affirmatively invited him over, or was possibly sexually interested in him. (R. 86:89–90, 105.) But he had to correct himself on those points when confronted with text messages in which Lisa made clear she wasn't interested in sex, he asked Lisa to invite him over, she initially resisted, and he told her that he needed to talk and was about to have a "nervous breakdown." (R. 24–25, 86:105–06.)

Mulhern also denied recalling any discussion about his sleeping on the futon, (R. 86:90–91, 117), until he reviewed texts showing that there was such a discussion, (R. 86:118). He further described, in very general terms, kissing and touching Lisa with her seeming consent just until his penis was about to enter her vagina, though that testimony was inconsistent. At one point, he denied having "any other kind of sexual contact with her, other than above her waist" (R. 86:101), but he told the prosecutor when asked that he touched Lisa's butt and breasts, both under and over her clothes, (R. 86:115–16). In all events, Mulhern claimed that Lisa suddenly, emphatically, and without explanation objected just before he was about to enter her. (R. 86:98–101.) While Mulhern's explanation of what happened wasn't impossible, the jury was entitled to weigh whether it was sensible and credible.

Given all that evidence, along with the DNA evidence, the nature of the case and the strength of the State's case compels the conclusion that even without Lisa's statement, the jury would have convicted Mulhern of sexual assault.

#### 2. Lisa's statement was not so prevalent or important as to shake confidence in the trial outcome.

As for the factor considering the prevalence and importance of the erroneously admitted evidence, Lisa's statement certainly had value. As the State discussed in Part I, her statement provided context for the jury to weigh and consider the potential identity of the male touch DNA. It supported the State's position that the DNA was likely Mulhern's based on the following hypothesis: Lisa claimed Mulhern penetrated her, male touch DNA was found inside Lisa hours after the assault, the DNA was not likely there for more than five days, and Lisa stated that she'd had no sex in

the week preceding the assault. But that hypothesis was far from the State's strongest or most compelling evidence that intercourse occurred. Nor did the jury need to find that the touch DNA was Mulhern's to find Mulhern guilty.

As for the prevalence of Lisa's statement, she only made it once. (R. 86:51–52.) Yet, as the court of appeals noted (Pet-App. 110–11), the prosecutor in closing and rebuttal highlighted the above hypothesis suggesting the male touch DNA was Mulhern's, which went to prove that intercourse occurred. (R. 86:141, 154–55.) While the prosecutor's closing remarks are relevant to the harmless error analysis, they should not tip the scale meaningfully in either direction.

To start, the prosecutor's highlighting the hypothesis in closing made strategic sense. Courts, juries, and parties look to DNA evidence as the "gold standard" of proof in criminal cases. Any reasonably zealous prosecutor arguing their case to the jury would highlight DNA evidence in closing. And here, without Lisa's statement, the prosecutor would have still emphasized the touch DNA and the theory that it was likely Mulhern's, given its presence in Lisa hours after the assault, Purpero's testimony that it had not been there for more than five days, the unlikelihood that Lisa could have picked up the DNA from another source between the assault and the exam, and Lisa's fresh injuries to her vagina and labia consistent with forcible intercourse.

And even without Lisa's statement, the prosecutor likely would have placed the same emphasis on that hypothesis in rebuttal, given that Mulhern's closing focused on the inconclusive and inconsistent nature of the DNA evidence and the forensic testing that the State could have but did not—undertake in this case. (R. 86:150–52.)

Even so, closing argument is not evidence, and that hypothesis was only a small part of the State's case and

closing presentation. Regardless what the parties say in closing, the jury weighs the totality of the evidence presented to it. Based on all that evidence, as discussed above, the most powerful evidence was Lisa's significant injuries, her immediate reporting, her credible and consistent version of events, her lack of motive to lie, and Mulhern's inconsistencies and less credible explanation. Indeed, the prosecutor emphasized those things in closing much more emphatically than the DNA hypothesis. (R. 86:138–46.) The State's hypothesis that the touch DNA was Mulhern's based in part on Lisa's statement was far from its strongest point. (R. 86:141.)

And in all events, Lisa's statement was simply a statement that the jury could choose to believe or not believe. Nothing about Lisa's statement prevented Mulhern from arguing, as he did, that the State could not prove that the touch DNA was his and that the small amount of touch DNA was inconsistent with Lisa's claim of minutes-long forced intercourse. (R. 86:150–51.) Moreover, even if the jury had been inclined to disbelieve Lisa's version of events, her statement about her lack of sex the week before cannot have changed their minds. If the jury disbelieved Lisa's accusations against Mulhern, it likely would have also rejected her testimony about not having sex the week before.

3. The corroborative-or-contradicting factor does not apply when the error involves the erroneous admission of rape shield evidence.

In this case, there is no corroborative, contradicting, or untainted duplicative evidence that Lisa did not have sex the week before Mulhern's assault. But there's a reason for that: if Lisa's statement should have been barred under the rape shield statute, so too was any corroborating, contradictory, or duplicative evidence. Accordingly, the absence of other evidence does not inform the harmless error analysis when the erroneously admitted evidence is relevant and isn't "tainted" by an underlying constitutional violation. Rather, these factors simply shouldn't apply when the harmless error question involves the erroneous admission of rape shield evidence.

Instead, the question that better assists the harmless error analysis in these cases is whether, but for the application of the rape shield, the erroneously admitted evidence would have been admissible under standard evidentiary rules and otherwise did not violate the defendant's rights. If we are to accept that Wisconsin's rape shield's broad sweep will occasionally require the exclusion of relevant evidence that is offered by the State, that does not undercut any of the statute's purposes, and that does not violate the defendant's rights, those facts should compel against granting the defendant a new trial on harmless error grounds.

Here, as discussed above, Lisa's statement satisfied statutory admissibility requirements given that it was relevant and it was not unfairly prejudicial to her or to Mulhern, and it did not risk confusing the jury. Its admission did not violate Mulhern's rights. It would have been admitted at trial but for the operation of the rape shield statute. And while relevant, the statement was not so important to the State's case that it could have affected the verdict.

In light of all the factors and the totality of the evidence, the State's introduction and use of Lisa's statement regarding her lack of sex in the week before the assault was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. A rational jury would have undoubtedly still convicted Mulhern without it. He is not entitled to a new trial.

## C. The court of appeals' decision was flawed and does not provide guidance.

While this Court reviews harmless error de novo and need not reference the court of appeals' decision, the State nevertheless notes why that court's reasoning does not support its mandate granting Mulhern a new trial.

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